

RESEARCH PROTOCOL

Médecins Sans Frontières OCA

Version 23: 4st-19th April February 2016

The perceptions and experiences of health and health seeking behaviour for the community living in the slum areas of Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag, Dhaka, Bangladesh: a qualitative study

Research Question: 'What are the perceptions on health and health seeking behaviour for the community living in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag, Dhaka, Bangladesh?'

Study Sites: This study will take place in two sites that are part of the poorest urban extension to Dhaka, Bangladesh: Kamrangirchar and in the adjoining Hazaribag.

Proposed start date of data collection for study: February 2016

Primary Investigator:

Jeroen van der Heijden

Principal Investigator
MSF-OCA
+88 (0) 17 1333 2007
Kamrangirchar-anth@oca.msf.org

Supervisor

Beverly Stringer Health Policy and
Research Advisor
MSF-UK
00 44 (0)20 7067 4251
00 44 (0)785 077 6217
beverley.stringer@london.msf.org

Co investigators

Nell Gray

Qualitative Research Officer
MSF-UK
Nell.Gray@london.msf.org

Dr. Stobdan Kalon

Medical Coordinator
MSF-OCA
+88 0171 303 1628
Bangladesh-medco@oca.msf.org

Martins Dada

Health Advisor
Operational Centre Amsterdam
+31 205 208 727, +31 620 568 905
Martins.Dada@amsterdam.msf.org

Dr. Aminur Shaheen

Deputy Project Coordinator
Centre for Reproductive Health, icddr,b
+8801819266216 - +8801713257399
draminur@icddr.org

Sadika Akhter

Deputy Project Coordinator
Centre for Reproductive Health, icddr,b
+88029667423 - +8801715010970
sadika@icddr.org

Prof. A.H.M Enayet Hussian

Director, Non-Communicable Diseases
Directorate of Health Services, MoHFW,
Bangladesh
+8801711838613
paedeye@yahoo.com

[Dr. Animesh Bishwash](#)

[Senior Scientist](#)

[Centre for Injury Prevention and
Research Bangladesh \(CIPRB\)](#)

[Bangladesh](#)

[+8801771003434](#)

animesh@ciprb.org **Dr. Fariha Haseen**

[Ass. Professor](#)

[Public Health and Informatics, BSMMU](#)

[+88-01711066908](#)

| far_haseen@yahoo.com

| Acronyms

ACP	Annual Control Plan
HAZ	Hazaribag
KAM	Kamrangirchar
MOHFW	Ministry Of Health
MSF	Médecins Sans Frontières
NGO	Non-Government Organisations
SRH	Sexual and Reproductive Health

1. Background

Rapid urbanisation in developing countries is becoming an increasing topic of concern. The high influx of rural population creates a huge need for accommodation, and leads to growth of dense slum areas with poor living conditions. Dhaka city is in this sense no different with urban inequality and poverty leading to uncontrolled growth of slums throughout the city, with Kamrangirchar as the largest. Overcrowding and bad housing are known to be associated with poor health. Such environments are detrimental to health, life chances and social behaviour. Health indicators amongst slum residents are worse than their rural counterparts, making slums an important risk for general public health. Multiple studies indicate that health seeking behaviour amongst the poor of Dhaka's society is low, despite the fact that in Bangladesh 90% of the urban population have access to a health facility available within 2km.¹ Concurrently, health seeking behaviour is a complex and multi-dimensional aspect of life, with utilisation dependent on many socio economic factors, local political organisation of the health system and services, and is determined by what has been termed demand and supply.

On the supply side of health care, conclude that there is a decreased use of 'traditional' medicine and an increase in the use of health services offering a biomedical model of care. However, this shift comes with an increasing number of unqualified practitioners of allopathic medicine in Bangladesh. Multiple articles confirm that pharmacies are the most dominant healthcare source in both rural and urban settings. Ahmed et. al. conclude that there are multiple social and economic factors that influence this decision; distance and financial limitation are important, but also a lack of adequate services, absence of doctors and medication in the health facilities and corruption have an impact. Khan et. al. (2012) emphasize the risk of unqualified practitioners and the need for control and education of the pharmacists.

On the demand side, a study by Ensor and Cooper suggest that the demand-side barriers might be equally important to supply barriers in health care utilization. The literature shows a set of issues that prevent or put limits on health seeking behaviour, one of the most important is a lack of knowledge about common diseases and available services which leads to normalisation of symptoms, meaning that symptoms are seen as normal in the functioning of the human body and not as an indicator of a disease. It is suggested that a lack of public information on health has an impact on this. Besides that, there are important socio-cultural barriers that prevent adequate health seeking practice. The attitude of the health provider is seen as an important factor, a lack of respect towards the poor or a lack of confidentiality are mentioned as thresholds for patients. And it is also mentioned that patients measure the quality of the care given to them by the number of pills they receive.

Several quantitative studies have been conducted on health utilisation, studying different population groups in Dhaka, for example; slum-dwellers, street-dwellers, and the urban poor. These studies confirm that knowledge about common diseases and availability of services are important factors, but do not address perceptions and behaviour of the care seeker. Few qualitative studies have been found that address health of the poor, for example; new-born care practices among slum dwellers, concluding that education plays an important preventive role. Furthermore, a study on poor and middle class childless women describes the complex relation between customary practice, religion and modern health care. With a study on postpartum morbidity highlighting the political and cultural constraints that compromise women's health. These studies highlight perceptions and behaviours, but are limited to the focus group of their studies.

In 2013 Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) started an urban healthcare program with provision of an MSF core sexual reproductive health packageⁱ offered to females^{10 -49 years}ⁱⁱ and occupational health, offering medical care to factory workers of all ages. There are a reported low status and low economic prioritization of women's

health in poor households in Bangladesh, resulting in significant morbidities and suffering. Several studies indicate that around 50% of women in Bangladesh fall victim to physical spousal violence, and only 2% of them seek care or support for this. This is compounded by limited access to medical and psychosocial care for survivors. For Occupational Health, a significant number of people living in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag have migrated from the rural areas of Bangladesh. Many migrants make their living in the informal sector, where a lack of information about occupational safety for factory owners and workers is known. This creates the conundrum that poor and unsafe working conditions are both a cause and consequence of extreme poverty.

1.1 Rationale for the study

No studies have been found that apply a qualitative methodology to understanding health perceptions and behaviours in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag. In the project, there is a need to gain an understanding of underlying social perceptions, opinions, and motivations towards health and health seeking behaviour. This study applies qualitative methods to allow an in-depth understanding of these issues, and in order to learn how and where to adapt the program to increase appropriateness, acceptability and so the effectiveness of health care for these communities. It is thought that the findings will add to existing data on health and life for such populations in similar settings.

1.2 Objectives

This study aims to provide a better understanding of community perceptions toward health and health services in order to inform programme strategies:

- Describe community and local-level perspectives and opinions on health care provision;
- Document gaps, barriers and influences that impact access and acceptance of health care;
- Contribute to best practice and development of health policy for this population

2. Methodology

2.1 Design

This qualitative study aims to explore perceptions that inform motivations and actions to seek solutions for poor health amongst community members of Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag. Whilst the community as a whole is of general interest there will be a specific focus on the population utilising the main services in the project, those for sexual reproductive and occupational health. This study will use qualitative descriptive research techniques, to give a deeper understanding of the social and cultural perceptions that surround concepts of health. Qualitative methods are most suitable to conduct this type of studies as we aim to understand the social world through the eyes of the people that are studied. Three approaches will be applied to optimise descriptive data for the topic being investigated:

a. Narrative/life history or storytelling method

~~With the main- For female~~ participant groups, a narrative life history or storytelling method will be applied. This method focuses on describing the 'inner experience of individuals', of all ages in terms of how they interpret, anticipate, comprehend, and define the world around them. This approach is particularly useful for understanding the past and present contextual influences on people's health perceptions and behaviours. It allows us to uncover a variety of aspect of a participant's life, reflections and perceptions, but at the same time ensures thematic comparison of the data collected. For younger participants we will ~~adapt this method use a creative and as~~ informal ~~family method for~~ storytelling ~~in the family setting~~. The parents will carefully briefed on the neutrality of their role and understand that they should not attempt to influence or interpret the responses of participants but can give their own opinion ~~as part of the conversation~~. This method gives the possibility to supplement and contextualise participant data with data gathered from adults present. ~~This-The narrative guide or questions used at beginning and end of narrative interview~~ study will be piloted and adapted to ensure the younger person's responses are ~~not unduly suppressed, reverting to individual stories as indicated natural and to ensure technique is not overly complicated~~.

- ~~Factory workers~~
- Female participants 13 - 49 years of age (~~including family members for younger participants~~)

b. In-depth ~~focused~~ interviews

For the key informants of the community, participant-led in-depth interview will be carried out, using a topic list to guide the flow of conversation, allowing for deeper knowledge on specific topics to be extracted, at the same time ensuring comparability between cases and key informant groups. Community groups are identified as:

- ~~Family and community members~~
- ~~Factory workers~~
- Social workers, students, ~~members of health Non-Government~~ Organisations (NGO's) and religious leaders

c. Observation and field notes

Detailed observations and field notes will be documented by the researcher during fieldwork, detailing insights and observations that develop over time and through repeated analysis of events, activities, behaviours, and interactions. This aims to complement the method design by enhancing understanding of data collected

through life histories and in-depth interviews and increasing the validity of results through the verification and triangulation of data. It will also highlight any discrepancies from narratives gathered.

2.2 Setting

The study will take place in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag, both areas are situated in the south west corner of the city and are well known as a highly polluted and poverty stricken. Kamrangirchar is the biggest slum of Dhaka located on a peninsula of the Buriganga river. At least 400.000 people live in this area of only 3.68 km², although the exact number is unknown, this figure is widely accepted. On the Northeastern border of Kamrangirchar, encapsulated by the city, lays Hazaribag, an area of 3.94 km² where estimated 185.000 people liveⁱⁱⁱ. This area accommodates 95% of the countries leather processing factories. The exact number of tanneries is unknown due to rapid changes, however, studies show that there are around 250 to 300 tanneries. This area is the 5th most densely polluted location in the world. Workers are exposed to dangerous and hazardous situations on a daily basis impacting their health. The inability to process the waste produced by community and industry, and the high rural influx, into this area, result in a densely populated and highly polluted environment.

2.3 Sampling and recruitment

This study will rely on purposive sampling, allowing for the researcher to select key informants who will have a useful perspective on health and solutions for ill health. Participant selection will be based on the groups outlined above, and will be recruited through the project using outreach teams and project liaison. Whilst the final number of participants will only be known once data saturation occurs, (Barney, Glaser and Strauss, 1967) in this instance at least 12 participants will be approached per key informant group, so we estimate the total sample size to be approximately 48-36 participants. validates that saturation occurs for such research design 'within the first twelve interviews, although basic elements for meta-themes were present as early as six interviews'.

To enhance the credibility of this sampling, a maximum variation sample will be used to ensure the consideration of key demographic variables likely to have an impact on participant's views, for example, gender, age, ethnicity, and occupation. This aims to ensure that the sample within the selected groups is both diverse and representative of the communities in question, and so maximise a fair share of perspectives and views.

Interviews will be organised and conducted in a designated place so as to optimise privacy and confidentiality. Appropriate venues will be identified during the planning phase of the study as a neutral space, and will be selected in collaboration with the MSF team. During the pilot the appropriateness of the venue(s) will also be assessed. Interviews are completely voluntary and participants may withdraw from this study at any moment. For participants under the age of 18 years, parental or guardian consent will be sought as per legal requirement.^{iv} The narrative methodology for this group will include storytelling by the younger participants in a family setting.

a) Inclusion criteria

- Factory workers
- Female participants 13 - 49 years of age (including family members for younger participants)
- Families and community members
- Social workers, students, members of health organisationsNGO's and Imams and, religious leaders.

b) Exclusion criteria

- Individuals that do not give consent or decide to withdraw their participation during or after the interview
- Individuals considered to be too sick/unwell to participate (e.g. chronic illness by MSF team; gatekeeper; researcher or participant themselves). This will not exclude those with chronic conditions but those for whom participation would cause increased pain or discomfort; aggravate an existing health condition or potentially jeopardise recovery. If there are any concerns in this regard an MSF medical team member will be consulted.

2.4 Data collection and analysis

Both narrative accounts and in-depth interviews will be recorded and transcribed ~~verbatim~~ into English. These will include careful contextual translation of idioms, metaphors, and other local expressions. Translators will be closely supervised and the quality of their work monitored by the checking and back translation of a sub set of each translators work by a second translator. – Debriefings will also be held with translators/transcribers to ensure any concerns are addressed and resolved in a clear and consistent manner.

Interviews will be carried out considering sensitivities to gender. This will include recruiting translators of an appropriate gender (e.g. female translators for female participants) and ensuring thorough briefing of international researchers on cultural and gender issues and norms appropriate in the context (including appropriated dress etc.). Gender issues will also be included in the training, planning and ongoing team debriefings to ensure this is incorporated throughout the research process. Field notes will be taken throughout the period.

Data will be coded and then rigorously and continuously reviewed and categorised. Emerging patterns, themes and relationships will be identified and labelled. In order to enhance reliability, a subset of data will be coded and analysed by a second researcher. Data will then be triangulated in order to maximise validity, and cases that do not fit with conclusions will be reanalyzed in order to test emerging theory and ensure that examples are not selected purely to reiterate desirable conclusions. In addition, certain narratives or case studies will be drawn out to ensure the individual 'stories' are not lost and to explore how the themes interrelate in particular cases.

2.5 Interview language

All interviews will be conducted in Bengali with a translator and transcribed from Bengali to English verbatim.

2.6 Data validation

Cross checking of data and constant comparison as well as negative cases will also be examined in detail and explained in order to strengthen the analysis. Self-reflexivity – documenting the researcher's biases and assumptions, and how his/her position and perspectives have changed throughout the study will be accessible through field notes. Audit trails – tracing the conceptual development of the project from raw data through data reduction, analysis and reconstruction is built into the research.

The following methods will also be used to ensure a reflexive research process:

a) Including multiple researchers, translators and local co-investigators in the study to ensure multiple perspectives are included in the ongoing data collection and analysis. Practically this will include regular debriefings with the research team and a feedback session with local co-investigators and MSF team upon conclusion of data collection and prior to analysis.

b) Ensuring ongoing supervision and peer debriefing, including oversight by an impartial researcher who will examine the transcripts, final report and general methodology and provide sparring and feedback in order to enhance credibility and ensure validity.

c) Keeping rigorous field notes or a research diary will provide 'a form through which the interaction of subjective and objective aspects of doing research can be openly acknowledged and brought into a productive relationship.'(Watt, 2007) Whilst there are no rules over what should or should not be included in a research diary, it will include both descriptive and reflective content and cover subjects such as: thoughts and reflections; a record of reading (with comments/summaries/quotes); a record of phone calls and meetings; notes on methodology; observations; unresolved problems, issues or questions; plans for action; keywords and visual material (as appropriate). These will be used to inform analysis and act as the basis for discussions within the research team. However, the ethical issues involved in keeping a diary will be kept in mind and the confidentiality of both for the researcher and the characters that appear in the research story will be considered.

2.7 Limitations of the study

This is a qualitative study, and therefore only concepts can be generalised and shared for other settings. It is acknowledged that the role of the researcher as part of the project team may influence responses, which will be reduced through research profile as separate from operational responsibility. Care to choose communities that will not have been burdened by other surveys or assessments will be taken by cross-referencing with existing/on-going research in the area.

Translators or local language speaking third parties conducting the interview might have a lesser understanding of the topic resulting in phrasing or translating questions and responses incorrectly. ~~Close training and supervision will mitigate this with feedback post interviews as part of quality control. Careful selection of translators / interviewers will be made.~~ They will be carefully selected to ensure compatible characteristics (e.g. female translators for female participant groups) as well as technical translation skills, 'soft skills' such as empathy, tact and communication skills, and motivation to work with MSF on this specific study. This process will involve an open recruitment process supported by the mission HR Department. They will then be thoroughly trained on the study objectives and methodology, with a specific focus on objective translation and confidentiality. Transcribers will be recruited and trained in the same way. Both translators and transcribers will be closely supervised including regular debriefings and quality checks.

Whilst competing interests or biases may affect translation, in addition to the above steps the following mechanisms will be put in place to mitigate this: transcribers will quality check translations when listening to audio recordings of interviews and raise and questions or concerns with the PI and a subset of each transcriber's transcriptions will be checked and back translated by another transcriber, and again any discrepancies discussed with the PI.

3. Ethical consideration

3.1 Potential benefits of the study

Social value of this study: an opportunity for participants to express their views and better understand how to manage their health as a consequence of this study.

Project level benefits: There are no known studies available looking at the communities' perspectives on health or health seeking behaviour of the population concerned. By providing new insights with regard to this topic, it is hoped that recommendations will inform future activities for effective programming and better health outcomes. In addition, it is an opportunity to share within MSF, the value of urban health focus programmes.

Community level benefits: This study could help to improve understanding barriers or opportunities for good health care. The largest benefit being for future patients as barriers are reduced and enablers are optimised to provide dignified and effective treatment. A two-way more acceptable and accessible pathway to care is envisaged as a result.

National level benefits: With a better understanding of community perceptions and experiences, it is hoped that this study will provide a valuable insight and influence to the national health policy for this population's health needs.

International level benefits: Concepts drawn from this study could also be comparatively analysed with neighbouring countries with communities coping with similar living conditions. In this sense, findings can contribute to the ongoing global policy and best practice linked to urban health.

3.2 Potential risk of the study

Current security restrictions and movement limitations may impact recruitment and response rate, remuneration for participants is anticipated and will be as per MSF standard. It is not foreseen that respondents will receive financial compensation in exchange for participation. However, non-monetary tokens such as a soap kit or equivalent and transport fees will be included. Under extenuating circumstances work time would be recompensed per hour of work losses. Extenuating circumstances to be defined as when the participant has no other time available to participate within the study timeframe and there was a low uptake of volunteers for the research.

Informed consent will be obtained and participant privacy and confidentiality respected at all times. In the case interviews are conducted with participants under the age of 18 years, permission will be obtained by the individual in question and through their parental or legal guardian as per local law requirement. The natural power imbalance between adult interviewer and younger participant will be minimised by creating a relaxed atmosphere prior to embarking on the data collection by having an informal chat at the beginning reassuring that the conversation is not a 'test' in any sense, and that all responses are equally acceptable, valid and welcomed. As a check topic guides will be piloted prior to use.

The main burden to interviewees will be the time taken for the interview. We have communicated with relevant authorities from the outset in order to ensure correct permission, courtesy, and access to the population. The research team will be especially mindful of anonymity of specific areas/neighbourhoods as well as participants.

There is a risk participants may feel distressed by talking about any difficult or sensitive experiences during the interview. For this, we aim to link with existing project support teams should any specific needs or psychosocial support be needed. Equally requests for medical support will be diverted to the existing services. There is also a risk that participants may disclose information that implicates poor health and safety or risks taken contrary to

local law (occupational)^v. This will be dealt with prior to the interview by stating that any disclosures that pose a significant individual or public medical risk will be managed on a case-by-case basis, in line with standard MSF protocol and where appropriate seeking expert advice.

To undertake the study should not substantially interfere with routine programmatic activities although it will require the support of the project team in terms of the time of selected health workers for an interview, input into participant selection, and ensuring confidential space for the interviews.

3.3 Respect for recruited participants and communities

Feedback mechanisms ensuring accessibility to younger participants will be used to ensure participants are aware of the findings and outcomes of the study. Respondents can choose to opt in or out of this feedback process prior to interview commencement. Summary findings of the study will also be made available to all participants. [As part of the consent form participants will be asked if they would like to receive feedback on the study findings. If they state they would they will select their preferred contact mechanism \(see updated consent form in Annex 1\). These details will be stored confidentially and securely \(password protected\) and used only for the purpose intended. They will be destroyed once this dissemination has occurred.](#)

3.4 Informed consent and confidentiality

Prior to their involvement, all participants will be given detailed information about the objectives and methods of the study. The consent process will ensure participants are aware that participation is voluntary and they can change their mind about participating and/or terminating the interview at any point. It will also explicitly clarify that participation is in no way linked to receiving (or not receiving) services or other benefits. Consent will be briefly outlined verbally to ensure respondent comprehension, with voluntary written consent, thumbprint or other local alternative then being obtained. In the case of younger participants under the age of 18 years, permission of the parents or legal guardians will be sought as per local law on legal age of consent. Alongside parental consent, assent from the young person will be included as part of the consent, meaning there is a signal that the young person is willing to take part. Refusal to take part or withdrawal from discussion or interview involves no penalty or loss of services. All data will be anonymized and care will be taken to ensure any quotes presented in the final report cannot be linked to individuals or places other than the study area itself.

[Translators will be thoroughly trained on confidentiality, including the implications of not respecting it, and these messages will be reinforced during the data collection period. Translators and transcribers will also be asked to sign a specific confidentiality agreement \(developed in collaboration with the mission HR department\).](#)

3.5 Data management and protection

We will ensure that all the data collected (digital files, survey forms, paper notes, audio recordings, transcriptions) is managed respectfully and confidential and will exclusively be used for the purpose of this study and the project. Paper documents will be kept in a locked drawer and digital files will be stored in a password-protected format. Each participant will be assigned a code that relates to his or her identity and time & place of the interview. Data will be shared with others, presented or published only with the discretion of the Medical Director, MSF Operational Centre, Amsterdam (OCA).

Details of participants recorded with their express consent in order to ensure feedback of findings will be stored confidentially and securely (password protected) and used only for the purpose intended. They will be destroyed once this feedback process has occurred. Recordings, notes and consent forms will be destroyed will be destroyed after five years and/or two years post publication. Electronic data will be deleted from the hard drive and paper documents will be shredded by the MSF UK Programmes Unit.

3.6 Independent review

The study protocol will be submitted to the National Research Ethics Committee of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University (BSMMU), for full ethical review prior to study commencement.

4. Study implementation

4.1 Collaborative partnership

This study represents collaboration between the Ministry of Health and family welfare of Bangladesh, Médecins Sans Frontières, Centre for Reproductive Health International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease and Research, Bangladesh (ICDDR,B) and Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University (BSMMU). Within MSF, the primary investigator is based in Dhaka, Bangladesh, and the co-investigators in the coordination office in Dhaka, MSF Operational Centre in Amsterdam (The Netherlands), and Qualitative research support team, MSF UK in London. The co-investigator Nell Gray will participate in the data collection in the field for female participants.

4.2 Timeline

The study will be conducted in a 4-month period, (comprising of approximately 1.5 month preparation, 1.5 month data collection in Bangladesh (end-Feb to end-March) and 1 month data analysis and write-up). Dissemination is aimed to take place in May 2016.

4.3 Dissemination plan

An internal briefing paper will be produced, highlighting the key findings of the study, including any recommendation that can be given. These findings will be distributed to MSF, the MSF field team in Kamrangirchar and the Coordination office in Dhaka. A summary of study findings will also be made available to participants, ensuring easy accessibility to younger participants, through field team members and/or the principle investigator. A meeting will be held with participants to discuss the emergent findings and to gain their feedback and thoughts on these. A study manuscript will be produced and submitted for publication in a peer-reviewed journal. Discussions will be held with the MoHFW where policy is implicated and, MSF field contacts and coordination teams regarding the implementation of study findings to future programme activities.

4.4 Budget and resources.

The cost for this study is factored into the standard budget lines of the project. A breakdown of the actual has been agreed upon in the Autumn Control and Planning (ACP) of November 2015, for the budget year 2016. The total cost of the study will amount to approximately € 1300.

Additional logistics support will be required from the MSF field team in terms of transportation and essential materials: voice recorders etc.

Bibliography

2. Un-Habitat. *The Challenge of Slums - Global Report on Human Settlements.*; 2003. doi:<http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/meq.2004.15.3.337.3>.
3. Hossain S. Rapid Urban Growth and Poverty in Dhaka City. *Urban Stud.* 2008;5(1):1-24.
4. Hossain S. Urban poverty and adaptations of the poor to urban life in Dhaka City , Bangladesh. 2006:1-381.
5. Mahmud S, Tasneem S. Religion and Women Trajectories of Empowerment Samia Huq Sahida Islam Khondaker Religion and Muslim Women: Trajectories of Empowerment. 2011;(June).
6. UNICEF. Women and girls in Bangladesh. 2010:1-10.
7. Uddin MJ, Koehlmoos TL, Ashraf A, Khan a. I, Saha NC, Hossain M. Health needs and health-care-seeking behaviour of street-dwellers in Dhaka, Bangladesh. *Health Policy Plan.* 2009;24(5):385-394. doi:10.1093/heapoll/czp022.
8. Khan MMH, Grübner O, Krämer A. Frequently used healthcare services in urban slums of Dhaka and adjacent rural areas and their determinants. *J Public Health (Oxf).* 2012;34(2):261-271. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdr108.
9. Grazia M Caleo. Report - Hazaribagh tanneries final. 2015.
10. Streatfield PK, Baumgartner J. *Bangladesh Urban Health Survey: Preliminary Results.*; 2013. [http://www.niport.gov.bd/wp-content/uploads/download/1413705060-UHS 2013 Preliminary Results.pdf](http://www.niport.gov.bd/wp-content/uploads/download/1413705060-UHS%202013%20Preliminary%20Results.pdf).
11. Shaikh BT, Hatcher J. Health seeking behaviour and health service utilization in Pakistan: challenging the policy makers. *J Public Health (Oxf).* 2005;27(1):49-54. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdh207.
12. Barker G. Adolescents , social support and help-seeking behaviour consultation with recommendations for action. *World Heal Organ.* 2007.
13. Ashraf A, Chowdhury S, Streefland P. Healt, diseae and health-care in rural Bangladesh. *Soc Sci Med.* 1982;16:2041-2054.
14. Al-sabir A, Streatfield PK. *Slums of Urban Bangladesh, Mapping and Census 2005.*; 2005.
15. National Institute of Population Research and Training. Bangladesh Demographic and Health Survey Preliminary Report. 2011.
16. Ahmed NU, Alam MM, Sultana F, Sayeed SN, Pressman AM, Powers MB. Reaching the unreachable: Barriers of the poorest to accessing NGO healthcare services in Bangladesh. *J Heal Popul Nutr.* 2006;24(4):456-466.
17. Ensor T. Overcoming barriers to health service access: influencing the demand side. *Health Policy Plan.* 2004;19(2):69-79. doi:10.1093/heapoll/czh009.
18. Perry H, Nurani S, Quaiyum A, Jinnah SA, Sharma A. Barriers to Immunization among Women and Children Living in Slums of Zone 3 of Dhaka City , Bangladesh : A Qualitative Assessment. 2007:1-37.
19. Sen A. Health: perception versus observation. *Br Med J.* 2002;324(April):860-861. doi:10.1136/bmj.324.7342.860.

20. Haran D, Hatcher J. Where Do They Go , Whom Do They Consult , and Why? Health-Seeking Behaviors in the Northern Areas of Pakistan. 2015:747-755.
21. Malarcher S. A view of sexual and reproductive health through the equity lens. *Soc Determ Sex Reprod Heal Informing Futur Res Program Implement*. 2010:1-12.
https://extranet.who.int/iris/restricted/bitstream/10665/44344/1/9789241599528_eng.pdf#page=9.
22. Jahan NA, Howlader SR, Ishaq F, Sultana N, Sikder MZH, Rahman T. Health Care Seeking Behavior of Slum-Dwellers in Dhaka City. 2015.
23. Md. Jasim Uddin TLKAAAIK, Saha NC, Choudhury AI, Hossain M, Ahmed and I. Health Needs and Health-seeking Behaviours of Street Dwellers in Dhaka City. **June** .
<http://www.icddrb.org/images/WP167.pdf>.
24. **Mannan MA**. *Burden of Disease on the Urban Poor: A Study of Morbidity and Utilisation of Healthcare among Slum Dwellers in Dhaka City.*; 2015.
25. Nahar P. Health seeking behaviour of childless women in Bangladesh: An ethnographic exploration for the special issue on: Loss in child bearing. *Soc Sci Med*. 2010;71(10):1780-1787.
doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.07.026.
26. Uzma A, Underwood P, Atkinson D, Thackrah R. Postpartum health in a Dhaka slum. *Soc Sci Med*. 1999;48(3):313-320. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00319-0.
27. Bangladesh Urban Health Survey 2013: Final Report. 2013.
28. Naved RT, Azim S, Bhuiya A, Persson L a. Physical violence by husbands: Magnitude, disclosure and help-seeking behavior of women in Bangladesh. *Soc Sci Med*. 2006;62(12):2917-2929.
doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.12.001.
29. Dushtha Shasthya Kendra. Operational Context Study : An assessment of Bangladesh urban slum situation. 2009;(December 2008).
30. Jahan M. Impact of rural urban migration on physical and social environment: The case of Dhaka city. *Int Soc Dev Sustain*. 2012;1(2):186-194. <http://isdsnet.com/ijds-v1n2-10.pdf>.
31. Harpham T. Urban health in developing countries: What do we know and where do we go? *Heal Place*. 2009;15(1):107-116. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.03.004.
32. Akram O. Occupational Health and Safety in Urban and Peri-Urban Bangladesh : An Important Cause and Consequence of Extreme Poverty. 2014;(May).
33. Bryman A. *Social Research Methods*. Vol 2nd.; 2012. doi:10.4135/9781849209939.
34. Goldman R, Hunt MK, Allen JD, et al. The Life History Interview Method: Applications to Intervention Development. *Heal Educ Behav*. 2003;30(5):564-581. doi:10.1177/1090198103254393.
35. Médecins Sans Frontières. Urban Survivors: Humanitarian Challenges of a Rising Slum Population. 2011.
36. Dooley EE. *Toxic Tanneries*. Vol 109. United States of America; 2001.
<http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11386245>.
37. **Bhuiyan MAH, Suruvi NI, Dampare SB, et al**. Investigation of the possible sources of heavy metal contamination in lagoon and canal water in the tannery industrial area in Dhaka, Bangladesh. *Environ Monit Assess*. 2011;175(1-4):633-649. doi:10.1007/s10661-010-1557-6.

38. Blacksmith Intitute. The Worlds Worst 2013: The Top Ten Toxic Threats. 2013:1-37.
<http://www.worstpolluted.org/docs/TopTenThreats2013.pdf>.
39. Guest G. How Many Interviews Are Enough?: An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability. *Field methods*. 2006;18(1):59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903.
40. Green J, Thorogood N. *Qualitative Methods for Health Research*. Vol 311 August.; 2009.
doi:10.1177/1049732305285708.

Annex 1: Information sheet and consent form

Consent form participant Médecins Sans Frontières MSF- Operational Centre Amsterdam

INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPANTS

REC Reference Number: MSF_ 2016

We would like to invite you to participate in this research project. You should only participate if you want to; choosing not to take part will not disadvantage you in any way. Before you decide whether you want to take part it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what your participation will involve. Please take the time to read [or listen to](#) the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Who is MSF?

This project is being led by researchers from Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF). MSF is an international non-governmental humanitarian organization that aims to help people worldwide where the need is greatest, delivering emergency medical aid to people affected by conflict, epidemics, disasters or exclusion from healthcare. Active in Bangladesh since 1985, where we provide healthcare in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag and in Cox's bazaar.

Who is collaborating in this Study?

Médecins Sans Frontières is conducting this research, the primary investigator is anthropologist Jeroen van der Heijden, co-investigators is Beverley Stinger who supervises the study.

What is the aim of this research project?

The aim of this study is to provide more information on people's perception of health and their related health seeking behaviours in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag. We aim at answering questions like: How are health and sickness perceived? And what actions are taken and why? By gathering this information, we hope to improve our understanding of the community and use this knowledge to improve our services.

Who can take part?

The community as a whole with a special interest in the project population of factory workers and women of childbearing age (13 – 49 years), we interview people who are related to these groups, for example family members, community members, managers, etc.

What will the study involve?

We will conduct a 45 – 60 minutes interview in which we will ask about your life, vision and opinion in relation to health. There is no wrong or right answer. We only ask you to be open and honest. We want to learn how we can strengthen our program in the community and therefore wish to have a better understanding of perceptions of health. This study will result in a report with findings and recommendations. A summary of our findings will be made available to all participants; you may choose if you would like to receive this feedback or not, before the interview. Basic conditions of participation in this research are:

- If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason.
- Alongside parental consent, we ensure that adolescent participants under the age of 18 have given a positive signal that they are willing to take part in the study.
- Your answers and information will be kept private and confidential. Any comments we use will be done so anonymously and not linked to you.
- We will record interviews and take notes, but these will not be used for any other purposes or be available to any other parties, and will be destroyed at the end of the project.

What are the risks and benefits of participating?

The main benefit of participating is the opportunity to help to improve the services that MSF provides, this can directly (factory workers or adolescent women) or indirectly (family members or social circles) result in benefit to the participant on the longer term. We aim to speak with all levels in the community and don't foresee any stigma being associated with participation to this study. However, there is a risk participants may feel distressed by talking about difficult or sad experiences during the interview. For this, we aim to link with existing support teams should any specific needs for psychosocial support arise. We will treat interviews anonymous and confidential and hope that people will feel free to talk openly about their experiences and opinions.

What are the next steps?

If you would like to take part please inform Jeroen van der Heijden. We will then arrange a convenient time for the interview. Prior to the interview, we will explain the research project in more detail, discuss any questions you have, and ask you to complete a consent form.

CONSENT FORM FOR PARTICIPANTS IN RESEARCH STUDIES over 18 years

Please complete this form after you have read the Information Sheet and/or listened to an explanation about the research.

Title of Study: The perceptions and experiences of health and health seeking behaviour for the community living in the slum areas of Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag, Dhaka, Bangladesh: a qualitative study

Ethics Committee Ref: _____

Thank you for considering taking part in this research. The person organizing the research must explain the project to you before you agree to take part. If you have any questions arising from the Information Sheet or explanation already given to you, please ask the researcher before you decide whether to join in. You will be given a copy of this Consent Form to keep and refer to at any time. Please tick **the** or initial:

- I ~~(and my child)~~ have read the information sheet and/or had a full explanation of the research study and what my participation means.
- I ~~(and my child)~~ have had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the study
- I understand that I/~~my child~~ may withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason and without personal consequence. I understand that I will be able to withdraw my data up to the point of publication *[OR insert date if stated on Information Sheet]*.
- I understand that the information I ~~or my child~~ gives may form part of a published report and that I can ~~claim a summary copy at MSF main clinic~~ choose to receive a summary copy.-
- I understand that confidentiality and anonymity will be maintained and it will not be possible to identify me ~~(my child)~~ from any publications.
- I agree that the research team may use my ~~or my child's~~ anonymised data for future analysis which may lead to further publications; all conditions above would be respected.
- I consent to my ~~or my child's~~ interview being recorded.

Feedback of study findings

- I would like to receive a summary of the study findings and agree for my contact details to be maintained for that purpose. I would like to be contacted on:
Telephone number:.....
- I would like to receive a summary of the study findings and undertake to collect them from the MSF Clinic located at
- I do not need to receive a summary of the study findings.

Participant information

Name:

Date: **Signature:**

CONSENT & ASSENT FORM IN RESEARCH STUDIES FOR PARENTS/CAREGIVERS OF PARTICIPANTS UNDERbetween 13 and 18 years

Please complete these forms after you have read the Information Sheet and/or listened to an explanation about the research.

Title of Study: The perceptions and experiences of health and health seeking behaviour for the community living in the slum areas of Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag, Dhaka, Bangladesh: a qualitative study

Ethics Committee Ref: _____

PARENT/ CARE GIVER CONSENT FORM

- I have read the information sheet and/or had a full explanation of the research study and what my child's participation means.
- I have had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the study.
- I understand my child may withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason and without personal consequence. I understand that I will be able to withdraw my data up to the point of publication [OR insert date if stated on Information Sheet].
- I understand that the information my child gives may form part of a published report and that I can claim a summary copy at MSF main clinic.
- I understand that confidentiality and anonymity will be maintained and it will not be possible to for my child to be identified in any publications.
- I agree that the research team may use my child's anonymised data for future analysis which may lead to further publications; all conditions above would be respected.
- I consent to my child's interview being recorded.

Parent/care giver information

Name: _____

Date: _____ **Signature:** _____

INFORMED ASSENT FORM

- I have checked with the child and they understand that participation is voluntary.
- I have checked with the child and they understand the information and have had a full explanation of the research study and what participation means.
- I have checked with the child and they have had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the study.
- I have checked with the child and they understand they may withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason and without personal consequence.

I have checked with the child and they understand that the information given may form part of a published report and that a summary copy can be claimed at the MSF main clinic.

I have checked with the child and they understand that confidentiality and anonymity will be maintained and it will not be possible to be identified in any publications.

I have checked with the child and they agree that the research team may use anonymised data for future analysis which may lead to further publications; all conditions above would be respected.

I have checked with the child and they understand the interview is being recorded.

Feedback of study findings

I have checked with the child and they would like to receive a summary of the study findings and undertake to collect them from the MSF Clinic located at

I have checked with the child and they do not need to receive a summary of the study findings.

Participant information (13 y or older)

Name:

Date: _____ Signature:

Researchers Signature

I have fully explained the research study described in this form. I have answered the participant and/or parent/guardians questions and will answer any future questions to the best of my ability.

Printed name of researcher obtaining parental permission/ consent

Signature of researcher obtaining parental permission/consent

|

Annex 2: Topic guides

TOPIC LIST FOR PARTICIPANT LED IN-DEPTH INTERVIEWS

Kamrangirchar & Hazaribag 2016

Introduction (5 mins max)

- Thank the participant for agreeing to take part in this research
- Introduce yourself
- Offer the participant something to drink when this is possible

- Tell each participant:

"I (We) would like to talk to you about the topics of "health" and "sickness" and your experience and outlook on this. This interview will contribute to a better understanding of how people living in Kamrangirchar and Hazaribag experience and behaviours, to be able to improve the services that are given to the community by Médecins Sans Frontières."

*The interview will take approximately **45 - 60 minutes** and can be stopped by you at any time without any consequences.*

This conversation will be held in full confidentiality, and your anonymity will be preserved at all times in this study. Meaning that any quotations or information used in this study will never lead back to the individual. Any disclosures that pose a significant medical risk will be managed on a case-by-case basis and in-line with standard MSF protocol.

- **Make sure the participant has filled in the consent form for participants in research studies**

- **NOTE: Turn on the recorder and test it is recording** (avoid placing cell phones close to recorder!)

Reiterate that there is no obligation to participate and that the participant can redraw from the interview at any given time. And tell the participant that you will now start with the interview.

Keywords: Illness / sickness / health / perceptions / thoughts / believes / experiences / Healing / Choices / Lifestyle / solutions

Topic 1: life and migration history

- Grand opening questions: Can you tell me about yourself, your life and family, how did you come to be here? Let's start at the place you lived before you moved to here (*probe: What did it look like, with whom did you live in what kind of environment? What did you do for a living? When did you decide to come here? What was the reason to come?*)
- Tell me about your life here in KAM /HAZ, your work/study, your friends and social life?
- *What is important to you and why? How do you feel about life in KAM/HAZ?*
- What is important to you in your life and where does health come into this? (*probe: How would you rank the importance of health in your life?*)
- How do you see your future? (*probe: Where do you see yourself 5 years from now? What are your ambitions/expectations for the future?*)

Topic 2: Experience of a 'healthy community'

- What does it mean to be healthy, do you perceive yourself as healthy and how do you know that you are healthy?
- What indicates health or sickness for you elaborate on how you feel in general day to day, healthy non-healthy? (*probe: How do you know you are healthy or sick?*)
- When do you choose to go to an (external) practitioner? (*probe: At what point do you decide you need help in relation to your health, and how do you come to that conclusion?*)
- Can you tell me about the health in your household/ family? (*probe: Are there many cases of illness in your family/household and are they curable or chronic*)

- Can you tell me something about how you see the healthcare system and how are what type of practitioners perceived in the community, and why do you think this is? (*probe: How does the community perceive biomedical caretakers, and what about traditional practitioners, what others are used and why is this?*)

Topic 3: The patient-practitioner relationship

- To what type of practitioner do you choose to go to and why do you go there? (*probe: When are you satisfied with the care you have received, how do you measure this?*)
- Can you tell me what is important for you in the healthcare you receive, what makes it good health care in your opinion? (*probe: How do you rate the quality of the provided care? What makes you feel satisfied with the care that you received, for example; time spent; medication prescribed; respectful behaviour of practitioner*)
- Can you tell me about the last time you had received medical care... and the time before, what happened? (*probe: Can you describe the process from the moment you walked in until the moment you left? What was your feeling afterwards about the visit?*)

Topic 4: Self-care and responsibility

- Tell me if all your medical needs are covered by the care you seek/receive? (*Probe: Are all the medical problems, physical or mental covered by the care you seek or are there other aspects that you would like help with*)
- Are there any problems you experience in getting the care that you need, and what these difficulties are? (*Probe: economic limitations; physical limitations; socio-cultural and religious limitations?*)
- Are there any actions you take besides seeing a practitioner to help yourself to get better, what are those actions and why do you think they are helpful? (*Probe: Are there any practical things you do like take rest or vitamins or anything else?*)
- how do you feel better and what do you think is the most important reason you get better (*Probe: Is it a feeling, or do you go for a follow-up medication / belief / self-healing*)

Topic 5: Concluding the interview

Interviewer summarizes the interview and highlights the core of the discussion

- Is there anything you would like to add to this discussion, or anything that we missed?
- Do you have any questions you would like to ask me
- Is there anything else

Thank the participant for his/her participation. Tell them their participation is highly appreciated and a valuable contribution to the study and to the improvements of the services provided by MSF.

*** Stop the recording and lock the file on the device**

LIST FOR STORIES

Narrative topics: techniques used to encourage participant to tell their story or use illustrations or pictures to tell their story (age related or preference)
Probe narratives on:
How participants create and make sense of the rules, roles and norms of the social world in which they live;
Dynamics of power between different groups within a society, and within the different institutions they belong to: family, marriage, schools, clubs, health centres, religious centres
Few key topics
Their life journey so far
Health in the home
Health outside the home
How they stay healthy
Life, wellbeing, health and death- what they experience, think and feel

ⁱ 1 Provision of MSF core SRH package including ante- and post-natal care, 2 provision of contraceptives, management of reproductive tract and sexually transmitted infections, 3 provision of emergency contraception and termination of pregnancy, 4 Provision of nutrition and counseling services for pregnant and lactating women, 5 Referral service for institutional deliveries, 6 Provision of EPI services for newborns/TT women, 7 Conduct health and sexual health education in the clinic, 8 Routine training and monitoring of staff and ensuring quality of care, 9 Awareness raising in the community including schools through IEC activities, 10 Strengthen the access to quality sexual and reproductive health information and services, 11 working with community resources : guidance services in schools, and services provided by other NGOs (MSI, BRAC, BAPSA).

ⁱⁱ

http://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/trs_886/en and
<http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/infertility/definitions/en/>

ⁱⁱⁱ

Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics, "Household, Population, Sex Ratio and Literacy Rate," 2011, table C-01
<http://www.bbs.gov.bd/PageWebMenuContent.aspx?MenuKey=439>.

^{iv}

http://bdlaws.minlaw.gov.bd/print_sections_all.php?id=33

^v

Labour Act, 2006 (XLII of 2006) and Bangladesh Labour (Amendment) Act, 2013 (Act No. 30 of 2013).